





FAKULTÄT FÜR !NFORMATIK

Faculty of Informatics

Exploring ICT supported usage of public spaces to empower communities

DIPLOMARBEIT

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Diplom-Ingenieur

im Rahmen des Studiums

Medieninformatik

eingereicht von

Damir Dizdarević

Matrikelnummer 0927269

an der Fakultät für Informatik der Technischen Universität Wien

Betreuung Betreuer/in: Ao.Univ.-Prof. Dr. Peter Purgathofer

Wien, 26.11.2015

(Unterschrift Verfasser)

(Unterschrift Betreuer)

Technische Universität Wien A-1040 Wien • Karlsplatz 13 • Tel. +43-1-58801-0 • www.tuwien.ac.at



Exploring ICT supported usage of public spaces to empower communities

MASTER'S THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Diplom-Ingenieur

in

Media Informatics

by

Damir Dizdarević

Registration Number 0927269

to the Faculty of Informatics at the Vienna University of Technology

Advisor: Ao.Univ.-Prof. Dr. Peter Purgathofer

Wien, 26.11.2015

(Unterschrift Verfasser)

(Unterschrift Betreuer)

Technische Universität Wien A-1040 Wien • Karlsplatz 13 • Tel. +43-1-58801-0 • www.tuwien.ac.at

ERKLÄRUNG ZUR VERFASSUNG DER ARBEIT

Damir Dizdarević, Angerer Straße 26/6, 1210 Wien, Österreich

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich diese Arbeit selbständig verfasst habe, dass ich die verwendeten Quellen und Hilfsmittel vollständig angegeben habe und dass ich die Stellen der Arbeit – einschließlich Tabellen, Karten und Abbildungen –, die anderen Werken oder dem Internet im Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen sind, auf jeden Fall unter Angabe der Quelle als Entlehnung kenntlich gemacht habe.

Wien, 26.11.2015

(Damir Dizdarević)

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

At first I want to thank Ao.Uni.-Prof. Dr. Peter Purgathofer for guiding me through this diploma thesis and for helping me to reflect upon my decisions and ideas.

Further I want to thank Christoph Chorherr, Helge Fahrnberger, Simone Rongitsch, Markus Ogris, Karin Büchl-Krammerstätter, Roman Mesicek, Sebastian Jakl, Manfred Forster & Matthias RedI for taking their time and giving me valuable insights during the expert reviews and evaluation.

Most importantly I want to thank my parents, my sister, my friends, Biggie & Pac. Hvala & Danke

ABSTRACT

This work takes developments and fields of tension in the area of urban live as a starting point for an explorative design process. Urbanization, the emergence of the sharing economy and the commercialization of public space present new challenges for society and makes new methods for public participation necessary. The goal of this work was to conceptualize an information and communication system that aims to create stronger interaction between people in urban areas, encourage usage of public spaces and strengthen local communities. It was very important that the question ahead did not imply the answer in some way. After an initial literature research, the design process consisted of multiple iterations of creating design prototypes and reviewing them by experts. New prototypes where created, based on the insights from the expert reviews. The first prototype was the concept for a crowdfunding platform for civic projects. This idea turned into a collaborative platform for people, which aims to help them initiate and realize green and sustainable projects in urban areas. The final design prototype was then implemented as a web-based, functional prototype and was evaluated by a series of expert reviews.

This work focuses primarily on the design process and the development of the project, based on the insights from the expert reviews.

KURZFASSUNG

Diese Arbeit nimmt die Entwicklungen und Spannungsfelder im Bereich des urbanen Lebens als Ausgangspunkt für einen explorativen Designprozess. Die verstärkte Urbanisierung, die Privatisierung und Kommerzialisierung von öffentlichen Räumen und das Aufkommen der sogenannten Sharing Economy stellen gesellschaftliches Zusammenleben vor neue Aufgaben und machen neue Methoden der öffentlichen Partizipation notwendig. Ziel dieser Arbeit war es ein System zu konzipieren, dass stärkere Interaktion zwischen Menschen in Ballungsräumen fördert, den öffentlichen Raum wiederbelegt und somit, als übergeordnetes Ziel, lokale Gemeinschaften stärkt. Das Ziel dieser Arbeit wurde bewusst so formuliert, dass die Aufgabenstellung keine potentielle Lösung impliziert. Die Methodologie dieser Arbeit besteht, neben einer anfänglichen Literaturrecherche, darin iterativ Prototypen zu entwickeln und diese mittels Begutachtungen von Experten zu evaluieren. Basierend auf den Erkenntnissen der Gutachten wurden iterativ neue Prototypen entwickelt. Der erste Prototyp war eine Crowdfunding Plattform für zivilgesellschaftliche Projekte. Im Zuge des Designprozesses wurde daraus eine kollaborative Plattform die es Menschen ermöglichen soll grüne und nachhaltige Projekte zu initiieren und umzusetzen. Dieses Konzept wurde anschließend in einem funktionellen, web-basierten Prototypen umgesetzt und mit Hilfe von Expertengesprächen evaluiert.

Diese Arbeit betrachtet dabei sehr stark den Designprozess und die Entwicklung des Projektes, basierend auf den Erkenntnissen der Expertengespräche.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Erklärung zur Verfassung der Arbeit	I
Acknowledgments	II
Abstract	III
Kurzfassung	IV
Table of contents	V
List of figures	VI
1. Introduction	1
2. Motivation	3
3. Aim	5
4. Approach	6
5. Design process	11
6. Functional Prototype	49
7. Evaluation	55
8. Summary & Discussion	61
Bibliography	64
Extended Table of contents	68

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures that have not been annotated with a source, have been taken by the author of this work.

Figure 1 A parklet in Vancouver, Canada in 2012 (Paul Kruger, 2012, retrieved from	
https://www.flickr.com/photos/pwkrueger/7563944478)	11
Figure 2 A basic sketch that captured the initial process	16
Figure 3 The first storyboard	18
Figure 4 The second storyboard "Project needs money or room"	19
Figure 5 The thirds storyboard "Finding people"	19
Figure 6 The first four illustrated personas	20
Figure 7 The second four illustrated personas	20
Figure 8 Sketches showing possible navigational concepts in detail	21
Figure 9 Overview of navigational concepts	22
Figure 10 Startpages of crowdfunding plattforms, Kickstarter (left), Indiegogo (middle), wemakeit (right)	23
Figure 11 Project detail sites, Kickstarter (left), Indiegogo (middle), Wemakeit (right)	24
Figure 12 Rough mockups to explore various layouts	25
Figure 13 Rough sketch of the initial design	26
Figure 14 First design iteration of a project card, Basic (left), Hover-State (right)	27
Figure 15 The first design prototype of the start page, hero image on top, filter & search underneath, project cards at the bottom	27
Figure 16 First design prototype for the idea detail page	28
Figure 17 First design prototype for the project detail page	29
Figure 18 The first design prototype has been printed in large A3 format to get feedback in t expert reviews	:he 30
Figure 19 The start page of the second design prototype resembled typical crowdfunding sit stronger than the first prototype	tes 32
Figure 20 The call to action for participation has been moved to the participants in order to create a association with them	33

Figure 21 The aim of this illustration was to explain the process and aim of the platform to	
visitors	33
Figure 22 The second design prototype has been printed in A3 format as well to get feedbac in the expert review	ck 34
Figure 23 The third design prototype was extended with a timeline that displays progress ar section for rewards	าd a 36
Figure 24 Basic sketches have been created in order to integrate the new concepts in the old prototypes	der 39
Figure 25 The fourth design prototype aims to stronger show the positive impact on environment and focuses stronger on location and categories	40
Figure 26 Cities now have their own detail pages. This aims to create a better connection to local communites.	41
Figure 27 The project detail page has an own designated area for challenges	43
Figure 28 The fourth design prototype has been printed as well in A3 format for the expert	
reviews	44
Figure 29 The functional prototypes start page	51
Figure 30 The discover page for a specific category	52
Figure 31 The project detail page's body consists of the tabs that describe the project, show	
news and display tasks	53
Figure 32 The user has to fill out a form with basic information when creating a project	54
Figure 33 Initiators are able to interactively edit the projects tasks	54

1. INTRODUCTION

In February 2015, the website gigaom.com has released an article called *Disrupting reality: Silicon Valley is busy ignoring the real world* (Roettgers, 2015). The article criticizes how many startups in Silicon Valley base their products and services around taking out the friction in human interaction. In order to find a profitable business model, technology and services are used to propose a potential solution to a problem that might not need a service or technology in the first place. The author of the article even goes further and says:

"It's not about meeting your neighbors anymore, it's about putting them to work."

(Roettgers, 2015)

This cynically formulated statement bares a truth that is inherent to computer science and engineering in general. The question on whether the things designers and engineers create benefit society.

The Viennese designer Victor Papanek was a strong advocate of the socially and ecologically responsible design of products and services. In his influential book *Design for the Real World: Human Ecology and Social Change* he argues that we live in a society and economy of abundance that produces to many products which lack usefulness. (Papanek, 1971)

Although there is a 44-year timespan between Papanek's book and the article of gigaom.com the problem of designers and engineers ignoring what they call "the real world" is probably more present than ever before. This observation was the initial motivation for this work.

1.1. STRUCTURE OF THIS WORK

Chapter 2 will explain the initial motivation behind this work. In particular it explains the developments in urbanization, the emergence of the sharing economy and the commercialization and privatization of public space. These 3 topics serve as starting point for a explorative design process.

The motivation sets the frame for the aim of this work, described in chapter 3. After describing the motivation and the aim, Chapter 4 will explain the approach behind this work. In order to get a better understanding of the approach behind this work, Chapter 4 will also give a brief history over design methodology and explain why this works approach has been chosen. Chapter 5 documents the design process in detail including every design decision and every expert review. The aim of this chapter is to show the impact that the iterations of prototypes and expert reviews have on the project. The implementation and the scope of the resulting functional prototype, which is based on the design process described in chapter 5, will be explained in chapter 6.

Chapter 7 covers how the prototype was evaluated and documents the process. Furthermore the findings of the evaluation will presented.

The discussion in chapter 8 reflects upon this works aim and result followed by a summary in chapter 9 which summarizes this work.

2. MOTIVATION

The motivation for this work can not be boiled down to a particular motivation but is more defined by a complex set of observations and developments in society and technology.

Live in urban areas is currently undergoing dramatic changes. With the advances in technology and the massive growth of population in cities, society is faced with new challenges. I want to highlight three trends that are currently impacting live in urban areas.

2.1. URBANIZATION

Urbanization describes the population shift from rural areas to urban cities and the resulting ways of live. Today, 54% of the worlds population lives in urban areas and 40 urban regions generate two thirds of the worldwide economic performance (United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 2014). This development challenges city planners but also computer scientists and designers. Urbanization has a strong impact on the requirements of Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs). Designer of such systems are therefore confronted with new constraints and have to develop an understanding of the implications on society of their systems to a new degree.

What is also becoming more evident that new forms of participation need to be established so that citizens have an active role in shaping their environment.

2.2. COMMERCIALIZATION AND PRIVATIZATION OF PUBLIC SPACE

Open public spaces are an essential part of democratic live in urban cities and help creating equality in society while giving its citizens a platform for culture, sport, political discourse and individual wellbeing (Beck, 2009). Currently we are witnessing a development of large urban areas being reconstructed to serve financial investors purposes. The problem of commercialization of public spaces often refers to the stronger usage of advertisement and billboards in these spaces (Baker, 2007). Privatization on the other side even goes further and describes the transfer of ownership of property to privately owned organization or company from the state. (Starr, 1988) This work will to focus on the shift in usage of theses places. The English art critic and poet John Peter Berger claimed that publicity turns consumption into a substitute for democracy (Berger, 1972). Recreational areas and market places are turned into cafes, bars and shopping malls. While urban areas are populated more densely, it becomes harder for its citizens to spend their recreational time in consumption-free areas (Wahyuni & Nasution, 2012).

2.3. THE SHARING ECONOMY

The term *sharing economy* and *collaborative consumption* is used to describe a socio-economic system built around the sharing of human and physical resources (Rogers & Botsman, 2010). Botsman & Rogers describe the shift in the way people consume and share their goods and services. This has an increasing impact on the way how companies work and a lasting impact on society. Companies like *Airbnb* already have a strong economic (Airbnb, 2014) and environmental impact (Airbnb, 2014). Although some services in the sharing economy have strongly impacted how individuals can interact with each other, reality shows that the idea behind the sharing economy doesn't seem to apply this easy in everyday live. Companies in this field have been accused of driving very aggressively into the markets while ignoring regulatory mechanisms.

3. AIM

The goal of this work is to develop a concept of an information and communication system that aims to create **stronger interaction between people in urban areas, encourage usage of public spaces and therefore strengthen local communities**.

The aim is defined very loose on purpose. The potential outcome of this work should not be implied by the aim but rather be completely open. This openness gives more freedom in the design process. The concrete manifestation should use information and communications systems in some form but does not have to subordinate itself.

The focus of this work shall not be on the technical solution or implementation but **rather on the design process and the reasoning behind decisions that have been made in order to reach a successful concept**. Successful in this context means that the concept that shall be created has the potential to be adopted by potential users.

In case a technical implementation of an ICT will be necessary as a result of the designed concept, it will be implemented as a functional prototype to evaluate it.

The overarching goal of this work is that the result should benefit society. The goal is not to create a viable business model or develop a technology with no clear benefit for society.

4. APPROACH

A brief elaboration of the development of design processes will help to explain this works approach.

4.1. A BRIEF HISTORY OF DESIGN THEORY

Since the early 1960, academic research has tried to understand how design processes work and what distinguishes them from classic academic problem solving approaches. The first design conference, *The Conference on Design Methods*, was held in London in 1962 which lead to the formation of the Design Research society in 1966. (Buchanan, 1992) This group of researchers set its goal to promote the study and examination of design and the design process. Christopher Alexander was one of the first researchers to heavily contribute to the discourse on design methods. His publication *Notes on the Synthesis of Form* is one of the most important publications of that time. In his work, Alexander criticizes the strong individual impact a designer has on the form-making process. He questions the idea of the genius designer and instead proposes a more methodological approach to design. This approach reflected the believe in academia that design processes can be defined scientifically. Alexander proposes a systematic model by dividing the design process in analysis and synthesis.

"I shall really be trying to show that for every problem there is one decomposition which is especially proper to it, and that this is usually different from the one in the designer's head."

(Alexander, 1964, p. 83)

Another very important influential researcher around that time was Herbert Simon. He looked for an answer on how research of the artificial can work in comparison to research of nature. In 1969 he published *The Science of the Artificial.* The design process was strongly associated with visual design and product design in the early era of design research. Simon helped to generalize design by viewing it as a more abstract problem solving approach.

"Everyone designs who devises courses of action aimed at changing existing situations into preferred ones".

(Simon, 1969, p. 130)

A very interesting aspect of Simon's approach was that he proposed the idea of simulation to verify a solution. Therefore, he was one of the first design researchers that coined the idea of prototyping. "To understand them, the systems had to be constructed, and their behavior observed"

(Simon, 1969, p. 20)

A strong impact on the design community had Victor Papanek's book *Design for the Real World: Human Ecology and Social Change* which was released in 1971. Papanek emphasized the importance of sustainability and moral in design and therefore questions the unconscious approach many designers had at that time and still have (Papanek, 1971). He argues that design at that time has only satisfied wants and desires but neglected genuine needs of mankind. One could argue that Papanek argued for what is today known as Human-Centered Design.

Horst Rittel & Melvin Webber published *Dilemmas in a general theory of planning* in 1973. This paper had a disrupted the discourse of design methods by presenting the concept of Wicked Problems (Rittel & Webber, 1973). They focus on policy planning in that publication but clearly state that new ways of tackling such complex problems need to be found. Their work was the starting point for many proposed design methodologies.

Nigel Cross published the article *Designerly Ways of Knowing* in 1982. Cross recognizes design as its own intellectual and practical culture as a way of finding knowledge by proposing designerly ways of gathering knowledge in contrast to classical research in science (Cross, 1982). Nigel Cross was a proponent of the position that the designer as an individual is the core of the design process and that this process relied heavily on his or her intellect.

The academic discourse about design theory of that time tried to create stepby-step processes to reproduce a design process. Buchanan summarizes this desire as follows,

"In the abstract, such a model may appear attractive because it suggests a methodological precision that is, in its key features, independent from the perspective of the individual designer."

(Buchanan, 1992, p. 15)

In practical application, this didn't work very well. Lawson reported that there was only one approach to implement the methods described in Alexander's Notes on the Synthesis of Form (Lawson, 1980).

4.2. CRITIQUE ON DESIGN METHODOLOGIES

While Buchanan understood the desire to create such formulation of a methodology, he was a strong opponent of the understanding of design as a science. He didn't believe that effective methodologies can be formulated. While Alexander was a proponent of structural approach in his notes, he revised his opinion on design methods in 1971 and harshly questioned his own prior work. He even goes so far saying that methodological approaches to design are useless.

"I've disassociated myself from the field. There is so little in what is called 'design methods' that has anything useful to say about how to design buildings that I never even read the literature anymore. I would say forget it, forget the whole thing."

(Alexander, The State of the Art in Design Methods, 1971)

Another relevant designer from that era, John Chris Jones, shares that opinion and states that:

"In the 1970s I reacted against design methods. I dislike the machine language, the behaviorism, the continual attempt to fix the whole of life into a logical framework."

(Jones, 1977, p. 50)

Donald Schön empowered this view in his article *The Reflective Practitioner* in 1983. Schön also strictly refused the concept of design grounding itself in science. He focused more on the problem setting, rather than the actually problem solving. He put his emphasis on framing and contextualizing design problems. This practice of reframing the problem and reflecting upon action was central to the design process in his opinion. The strong emphasis on framing is often recurring concept in design theory. (Schön, 1983)

4.3. THIS WORK'S APPROACH

The nature of this problem is *wicked*. Rittel and Webber define one of the characteristics of wicked problem as that such a problem has no definitive formulation. They are too ambiguous and associated with moral and societal issues. Wicked problems are also strongly dependent on stakeholder, therefore there is often little census about what the problem is. Finding the problem would be the same thing as solving it. Therefore the problem can't be clearly defined until a solution has been found. Rittel and Webber explained it like this:

"Part of the art of dealing with wicked problems is the art of not knowing too early which type of solution to apply"

(Rittel & Webber, 1973, p. 164)

Schön goes even further an argues that with a confusing and conflicting situation the actual problem has yet to be found.

"... when the ends are confused and conflicting, there is as yet no "problem" to solve. A conflict of ends cannot be resolved by the use of techniques derived from applied research. It is rather through the non-technical process of framing a problematic situation that we may organize and clarify both the ends to be achieved and the possible means of achieving them." (Schön, 1983, p. 41)

An explorative design approach is necessary to tangle this problem.

Ron Wakkery proposes a design method which is appropriate for this approach (Wakkary, 2003). Wakkery's work is based heavily on Donals Schön's concept of "reflective practice" were Schön emphasizes the importance of framing the problem and the need to constantly reflect upon practical prototypes throughout the design process. (Schön, 1983)

Iteration plays a crucial part in Wakkery's design method. In his method, the designer has the freedom to reiterate every step in the design process or go back at any point in time. The ability to return to a previous phase or start over from the beginning when a new insight or mistake has been found during the process gives the designer the ultimate flexibility to evolve a suited solution to given problem.

Following steps will be used in this work. They have **no fixed sequence** and **no specific number of iterations** that is necessary. They will derive from the findings during the process.

4.3.1. State-of-the-Art research

The designer has the ability to research at any given point about a certain field of interests that is relevant for the design process. State-of-the-Art research gives the designer the opportunity see how other designers have solved similar problems. It also bares the risk the get stuck on a certain solution. Therefore State-of-the-Art research should not be the predominate way of finding solutions but rather user testing and academic research.

4.3.2. Design Prototypes

Design Prototypes will be constantly used throughout the process. The form and shape of the prototype can vary. The prototypes fidelity or interactive depends on the review and evaluation it will be put through. In the early stages of the design process prototypes will be held as time efficient as possible to create since the designer should be aware of the fact that it can be thrown away at any given point in time.

4.3.3. Expert Reviews

In order to get feedback and validation on the prototypes, expert reviews will be constantly used throughout the design process. Expert reviews should not be a substitution to user testing but rather help the designer to seek experience from people of a certain area of expertise. The goal is to find people that have dealt with similar problems and have experience the field. Expert's don't necessary have to be people that have dealt with similar problems but also can be people that could have been potential users but solved their need for a solution in a different manner. During the design process expert reviews will be used at any given time when questions or ambiguities arise. It is the designers challenge to find adequate people that are able to give insights in the design process.

5. DESIGN PROCESS

5.1. INITIAL RESEARCH

5.1.1. Developments in the usage of public spaces

The design process started with an internet and on-site research on the usage of public spaces and innovation in public spaces. The main goal was to find developments that represent ongoing trends in the field of urban life.

The internet research showed interesting developments in various cities around the world which confirmed that the privatization and the occupation of public places by companies created a counter reaction by activists, primarily artists and architects. (Bela, 2015)

A major problem with public spaces is the often very complicated and strict bureaucracy involved in creating public spaces. As a reaction to this situation, a group of San Francisco based architects called Rebar Group tried to establish recreational parks in public spaces in 2005. This, so called *PARK(ing)*, made it possible to find loopholes in legislation in order to establish temporary public installations. This trend is also often referred to as *hacking of public spaces*. (Rebar Group, 2005)



Figure 1 A parklet in Vancouver, Canada in 2012 (Paul Kruger, 2012, retrieved from https://www.flickr.com/photos/pwkrueger/7563944478)

The idea behind so called *parklets* is to occupy metered parking space and to transform them into small, temporary recreational areas that can be used as a public park, outdoor café, bike rack or library just to mention a few usages.

The concept of hacking public spaces became popular and soon many citizens around the world started installing similar projects in various cities around the world. (Occupy Parking Spots: 15 Projects Reclaiming the Streets, 2014)

State legislators within San Francisco's planning department recognized the benefits and of this approach and started adopting the philosophy of temporal and quick installations.

The Mayor's Office of Civic Innovation, the San Francisco Arts Commission and the San Francisco Planning Department created the *Living Innovation Zones* (LIZ) program with the goal to help people and organizations create venues for innovation, connection and in play in public spaces (Living Innovation Zones, 2015). A more open initiative was the *Market Street Prototyping Festival* (Market Street Prototyping Festival, 2015). The idea was to give citizens the opportunity to present their ideas for improving one of San Francisco's largest and liveliest streets and to demonstrate them in public with prototypes for three days. The installations ranged from recreational zones, art pieces, performances spaces to name a few.

Insights

The research on public spaces showed some interesting aspects that influence the decision making in the design process.

The research has shown that **innovation in cities is pushed by civic society**. Citizen's know very well what their neighborhood needs and are a lot **faster in implementing solutions** for their needs. Unfortunately the research also showed that the **legal situation is often very confusing** for citizens and that they often act in a legal gray zone.

5.1.2. Emergence of civic crowdfunding

The power of individuals to actively contribute to urban live in the sharing economy also created new forms of financing and mobilization. Since the launch of Indiegogo (Indiegogo, 2015) (launched in 2008) and Kickstarter (Kickstarter, 2015) (launched in 2009), Crowdfunding grew to a \$10bn Industry (Sun, Schwartz, & Terry, 2015) .

Belleflamme, Lambert & Schwienbacher define crowdfunding as:

"Crowdfunding involves an open call, mostly through the Internet, for the provision of financial resources either in form of donation or in exchange for the future product or some form of reward to support initiatives for specific purposes."

(Belleflamme, Lambert, & Schwienbacher, 2014, p. 8)

This empowered companies, organizations and individuals to realize ideas without the help of large corporate financial investors. This way of financing gives local organizations more power when it comes to financing projects in their neighborhood. They are not necessarily bound to federal and state money to realize projects. People started applying the concept of donation based crowdfunding platforms like Kickstarter for civic projects such as parks, swimming pools and concerts. (Brady, 2014)

5.1.2.1. Crowdfunding models

This section should give a overview about the concept of crowdfunding and the existing models before going further into the emerging field of civic crowdfunding

Crowdfunding is fragmented around 4 different business models, depending on how strict they are defined (Giudici, 2012).

• Donation Based Crowdfunding

Platform's like GoFundMe (Gofundme.com, 2015) are based around the idea of personal fundraising for the sake of charity. People or organizations need money in order to achieve a certain goal but have no physical or monetary reward for the donation.

Reward Based Crowdfunding

Backers of projects receive some sort of physical gift or reward for the money they invest in a project. This model is currently the most popular model. Kickstarter and Indiegogo are among the most successful reward based crowdfunding websites. WeMakelt.com is the most successful platform in German speaking countries.

Lending Based Crowdfunding

Lending Based Models enable people to lend money to other people or organization with a return in interest rates without going through traditional financial institutions such as a bank. LendingClub (Lendingclub.com, 2015) and Zopa (Zopa.com, 2015) are currently the leading providers of such services.

Equity Based Crowdfunding

This model enables people to fund a startup or small business in return for equity. The investor receive ownership of a small piece of the business Investors have the right to receive their share if the business is successful. AngelList (AngelList, 2015), Crowdfunder (Crowdfunder, 2015) and Fundable (Fundable, 2015) are currently the leading platforms in this sector.

5.1.2.2. Current state of crowdfunding

Goldman Sachs released a research report in 2015, covering the current state of crowdfunding and gives detailed information on the size of the market and the development.

The report states the crowdfunding has **aggregated \$10bn in 2014**. In 2011 the aggregated value was just \$1.5bn According to estimates of the World Bank **60% of all projects were funded in North America and 34% in Europe** during 2012. (Sun, Schwartz, & Terry, 2015)

The study also strongly investigates the demographics of potential funders. It shows that so called Millennials, people born between 1980 and 2000, show strong interest in crowdfunding as a form of finance. In contrast to that, Millennials are less interested in stocks. The transparency and the potential positive social or environment impact plays a crucial role in decision making for this generation.

Crowdfunding is typically done trough the Internet. The strong social component of crowdfunding platforms enable campaigns to reach a large audience and potential viral growth as seen with many successful crowdfunding projects like the Cooler Cooler (Kickstarter, 2015) or the Pebble Smartwatch (Kickstarter, 2014).

5.1.2.3. Research on civic crowdfunding

Rodrigo Davis, a PHD Candidate from Stanford, released a 2 year study about the emerging development in crowdfunding, he calls *civic crowdfunding*.

He defines civic crowdfunding as an:

"Open processes to raise funding for public or shared goods."

(Davies, 2015)

During his research he has collected data from **1224 projects** between the **beginning of 2010 and Match 2014**. These projects raised **10.74 millions US Dollars**.

The research was focused on seven platforms:

- Catarse.me (Brazil)
- Citizeninvestor.com (USA)
- Goteo.org (Spain)
- IOBY.org (USA)
- Kickstarter.com, only projects that have been tagged with Civic (US)
- Neighbor.ly (US)
- Spacehive.com (UK)

I will point out some of the highlights from his work that have been important for the decisions in the design process.

• Small scale projects

The vast majority of civic crowdfunding projects have a pledge goal under \$20,000. The average of the successfully funded projects was \$6,357. The pledged average was \$62.

Civic crowdfunding projects are more successful than not civic projects

His work showed that projects that were labeled as "civic" on Kickstarter were funded 81% of the time which is above the average success rate on Kickstarter.

• Most successful projects are parks or gardens

His studies also showed that the majority of success projects were parks or gardens. Davies argues that the reason for this is that green projects are usually uncontroversial und are easy to execute.

• Most projects happen in dense urban areas

The vast majority of civic crowdfunding projects took place in dense urban areas.

5.1.2.4. Role of government in civic crowdfunding

Government and law makers play a crucial role in the success of civic crowdfunding. The research shows that civic crowdfunding is often used because there is a lack in governmental funding. Initiators use it because the state by itself is not capable of solving a undesirable situation. This also means that cities with very good infrastructure and funding for the public space often show less need for civic crowdfunding. The problems in these cities are more often the laws that prohibit to realize certain projects. Many cities are very strongly regulated in the field of urban planning. Getting permissions to initiate project turns out to be the bigger obstacle than receiving financial investment. This explains why civic crowdfunding is predominantly successful in North and South America which have a lot more liberal laws in terms of building laws than European countries for example.

Civic Crowdfunding is often used as a tool if government or state legislators fail to sustain a high level participation and quality public spaces.

5.2. INITIAL CONCEPT

The goal of the first concept was to create a collaborative civic innovation platform that helps people to initiate civic projects for urban areas and that follows them trough the full process of realizing the project. Citizens should have a tool that helps them to actively shape their environment.



Figure 2 A basic sketch that captured the initial process

5.2.1. Process

The process of that the platform should accompany the people which was designed to be in 4 steps:

1. Setting up your Idea

The platform should offer a simple setup process to make their idea public. A idea in this context is **not yet bound to any funding process and has no deadlines**. It should give people a place to express their desires and needs for their neighborhood. In order to make this process simple and effective, the platform would offer **blueprints** for various categories of projects like Sport, Parks or Events. The main purpose behind the concept of blueprints is to establish a minimum quality in presentation of the ideas. The presentation should appeal to users.

2. Presenting it on the platform

The idea can be published when the setup process is done and is available on the platform. Users that visit the website will be presented with projects that gather a lot of interest and are close to the users location.

3. Finding likeminded people / Creating a movement

The platform wants to enable people to use human resources in an effective way. Often people want to engage in civic activities in their neighborhoods but just don't know how to get in touch or to find activities. Initiators of ideas can actively invite people to get in touch with them and to help realize their project. The search for people that want to engage and participate in helping the project is major aspect of platform.

4. Starting the project phase to get funding

When the initiators feel ready to start the project they can set a funding goal and time plan. After this point it resembles a normal crowdfunding process. Visitors can fund projects.

5.2.2. Ideas and Projects

The motivation behind the concept of ideas was to lower the barrier of initiating a project. Crowdfunding campaigning shows that projects on crowdfunding platforms have to be very well formulated and have a very sharp focus and goal. The potential funder should have no doubt in the project initiators commitment. The ability to give people the freedom to express their desires for civic projects in their neighborhood gives them the ability to get feedback on the necessity of their idea.

5.2.3. Multiple metrics to measure progress

One major aspect of the initial concept is that **money** should not be the only metric used for success and progress. **Popularity** also plays a huge role. Visitors will be able to express their sympathy for an idea. This has the potential to create viral effects. The potential benefit from high popularity could be that state regulators see a need for popular projects or that private investors help theses ideas financially. **Human capacity** is also an important metric for civic projects. If an idea sets out to find people to support the projects then this should be communicated through the platform. Visitors should get a sense that more and more people are helping an idea to be realized.

5.2.4. Potential problems

A major field of uncertainty is dealing with law makers and state approval to realize the projects. The question is **how to deal with this uncertainty throughout the project**. A potential solution is to only allow project to start the project phase when all the necessary permits have been gathered. This could lead to other problem that under which the platforms efficiency could suffer. This problem will be further explored in future design iterations in this work.

5.3. STORYBOARDS

The next step was to create storyboards in order to understand the process better that should be reproduced and assisted in the platform.



Figure 3 The first storyboard

The storyboards should illustrate the process of a person that has a need or idea and wants to realize it through a crowdfunding platform.



Figure 4 The second storyboard "Project needs money or room"

Visualizing this process helps the get a better understanding on how to cluster the process and at which stage people could encounter problems.



Figure 5 The thirds storyboard "Finding people"

An other benefit of the storyboards is that they tell story. It is a lot easier to explain a problem and potential solution to a person through a story. The process of creating the storyboards also helps to see where people might have problems with understanding what it is about and how it works.

5.4. USER STORIES & PERSONAS

The storyboards gave a good feeling for the process but the insights were not to big. In order to understand the potential needs the next step was to create more detailed user stories and personas that are based on actually civic projects. This enables a scenario-based design process (Carroll, 1995) The personas are on purpose formulated as texts and not just bullet points of facts. The personas should tell a story about the peoples desires, needs and wishes. Additionally the should give insight on the social and financial background of people as well as their education and professional life.

9 personas and user stories have been created. The people in the user stories are divers in age, gender and origin.





Figure 6 The first four illustrated personas

The user stories also gave a first impression on how such a platform could look and feel although they were just simple slides with text and images. When the slides were presented to people it clearly showed that they triggered emotional response and that people automatically relate and try to identify themselves with the presented personas and their stories.





Figure 7 The second four illustrated personas

5.5. WIREFRAMING & SKETCHING

Sketching in early phases of the design process is very important in order to explore possible solution (Buxton, 2007). The act of sketching interfaces and workflows was used constantly throughout the design process at any given time when the need was felt to express a thought. Sketches are a great tool to document and test ideas very fast.

Sketches of the basic workflows for the platforms were created after the initial concept and the workflow of the users was defined. The sketches had various goals. On aim was to envision how a user could get a **overview of project's and navigate through the overview and detail views**. The transitions should be fluent in order to give the user a understanding of navigation and spatial reference. The illustration of the **creation process of a project** was also an important aspect of the his process.



Figure 8 Sketches showing possible navigational concepts in detail

The power of this approach was that it was easy to experiment with many different user interface approaches without having to worry about the technical implementation.



Figure 9 Overview of navigational concepts

A goal of the user interface was that the platform should be reduced to very few screens. Processes should be reduced to as little steps as possible.

5.5.1. General approaches in crowdfunding platform user interfaces

Crowdfunding platforms, especially donation based crowdfunding platforms, have produced design patterns that have become popular and accepted by users. Crowdfunding platforms obey certain design rules and are recognizable due to their special needs. I will highlight some of these design patterns by analyzing kickstarter.com, indiegogo.com and wemakeit.com. These platforms belong to the most successful crowdfunding sites and have proven that their designs work well in practice.



Figure 10 Startpages of crowdfunding plattforms, Kickstarter (left), Indiegogo (middle), wemakeit (right)

Following design rules apply to all the platforms start pages.

- All of the platform use a basic top navigation with the options to learn more about the platform, start a project or discover more project. Next to these task there are logins and registrations links.
- They also use so called **Hero Headers**. These headers are very large and explain what the platform does and what its aim is. The goal is clearly to catch the viewers attention and make the goals of the site understandable. In the case of Kickstarter it also functions as a carousel that changes content over time. This way current content will be display prominently.
- Most recognizable for crowdfunding is that projects are displayed in so called **card elements**. Cards element usually consist of a image on the top third, the project title, it's category, a short description text and progress indicators.
- All of the platforms above use the start page to indicate currently popular projects.



Figure 11 Project detail sites, Kickstarter (left), Indiegogo (middle), Wemakeit (right) The detail pages of all three websites also clearly resemble each other.

- The most prominent part of the website is the project video and the title. Although videos are not mandatory, the website strongly recommend the project initiators to make a video for their projects. Projects without videos barley get any attention and usually unsuccessful. Project videos are an integral part of crowdfunding nowadays.
- The current amount of funded money, the **funding goal and** additional information such as the deadline are directly next to the video. Underneath the information is a very prominent button with a call to action to pledge for the project.
- Underneath the video is a content area with a tabbed navigation. The main are is used for project description that can be edited by the authors. These descriptions tend to get very excessive and long on most crowdfunding projects. Also available is an area that is used to display updates and news in the campaign. These updates consist of news written by the authors or are auto-generated news by the platform when certain deadlines or goals have been reaches.

 Next to the content area is listing of all rewards. Users usually pledge by choosing a reward. This only applies for rewards based crowdfunding platforms

5.5.2. Low fidelity mockups

After the general navigation was roughly conceptualized with mockups and a good understanding has been built up on how crowdfunding websites use design patterns to engage and educate their users it was time to design the project pages. The goal was to create many low fidelity mockups that could represent the functionality that the initial process of the platform would offer. These mockups aim to experiment with ideas and find new ways of interacting with the users.



Figure 12 Rough mockups to explore various layouts

The prototypes clearly resembled typical crowdfunding websites but had a stronger focus on the community and participation aspect. The initiators and the people participating in the project should be clearly highlighted in the mockups. An other aspect that was important is that civic project have a geographical reference. The display of maps was therefore important. Visitors should immediately get understanding that the project is about a place and people and not a technical gadget or movie.



Figure 13 Rough sketch of the initial design

5.6. FIRST DESIGN PROTOTYPE

Already very early in the design process it was important to focus on the overall feeling of the platform. The typography, images and color schemes should connect emotionally to visitors and give them an understanding of the platforms values and goals. Since most of the content of the website would be user generated it is important to make a solid foundation for the design. Projects should look pleasing by itself without the having the initiator worry about style and layout.

The first prototypes used **dramatic typography** and **large imagery**. The typography and imagery should give the projects a **playful and inviting appearance**. This is empowered by placing the initiators and participants avatars very present.


Figure 14 First design iteration of a project card, Basic (left), Hover-State (right) In this iteration the card component was design to achieve legibility by heavily blurring the background image. After hovering the project, details would emerge and the image would be displayed sharp.



Figure 15 The first design prototype of the start page, hero image on top, filter & search underneath, project cards at the bottom

The layout is intended to be very responsive and adaptive to available screen size. The start page should highlight popular projects. The users should also search directly from the start page. The hero would serve as a carousel that can display important information.



Mit eurer Hilfe wollen wir den Weghuberpark zu einem modernen und lebendigen Ort verwandeln der Ökologie und Freizeit miteinander verbindet.

Warum geht es?

Wer wenig Fläche im Garten, Balkon oder Terrasse hat, muss dank dieser cleveren idee trotzdem nicht auf das Gärtnern verzichten: diese Pflanzensysteme sind einfach und schnell angebracht und noch schneller bewässert.

Was hat der Weghuberpark davon?

vvas nat der wegnuberpark (davon? An einem sonnigen Platz werden die dafür präparierten PET-Flaschen an Celiader oder Wand mit einer Rankhilfe befestigt. Für den Aufbau benötigt man mindestens 4-5 PET-Flaschen mit ca. 2 I Fassungsvermögen. Eine Flasche dient hierbei als Trichter zur Bewässerung. Die präparierten PET-Flaschen bis zur Öffnung mit Pflanzende FloraSelf Nature befüllen und mit anspruchslosen Biblipflanzen versehen. Besonders gut eignen sich auch Kräuter, Pflück- und Schnittsalate.



Hast du eine Idee wie man dieses Projekt besser machen könnte?





In letzter Zeit gab es Probleme mit Vandalismus in der Gegend, ich bin mir nicht sicher ob das so leicht gehen würde. Man müsste den Garten definitiv irgendwie umzäunen. Antworten Diese Idee gefällt mir 14 Das stimmt man sollte sich hier für etwas überlegen. Die ansässige Bezirksverawaltung wurde kontaktiert. 6



Hil Es gibt in der nähe ein Blumengeschäft. Die Leute dort würden bestimmt mithelfen. Antworten Diese Idee gefällt mir! 6

Figure 16 First design prototype for the idea detail page

The **idea detail page** resembles typical crowdfunding project pages but has some unique attributes to it. Since the concept of an idea on the platform is that it serves a playground to express ideas people have the opportunity to participate in the project but also to just express their appreciation for it. Next to the description there would be a map displaying the location of the project and a discussion section where people can interact with each other an express opinions.



Figure 17 First design prototype for the project detail page

The project detail page shows the funding status next to the video. Underneath the funding status there is an area where the project initiator can express on whether he needs people that could participate in the project.

After finishing the first prototype a expert review was scheduled.

5.6.1. Expert review with Mag. Christoph Chorherr on June 9, 2015

Christoph Chorherr is the speaker of innovation for the green party in Austria. He has decades of experience in the field of civic projects and city government. We contacted him to get his insights on the platform goals and whether he believes that a platform like the currently designed has the potential to be accepted by a broader mass. We presented him the screen designs in large printed format and explained what decisions have lead us to the current design.



Figure 18 The first design prototype has been printed in large A3 format to get feedback in the expert reviews

The following is a summary of the conversion held with Christoph Chorherr.

- Christoph expressed his sympathy for the project. With his experience in the field of civic projects he believes that there is definitely a need for a platform that gives people an opportunity to initiate projects, find supporters and finance it.
- One of our main concerns was whether a project should be able to be funded before it has all the legal permit to actually be allowed.
 Christoph's view on this question was that it's very hard for a project with no human and no financial support to be fully permitted.
 Therefore he argued that it might actually be a good thing to give projects the possibility to fund money before acquiring all the necessary permits.

- Christoph expressed that a platform that focuses on mobilizing people and financing projects should not try to solve the legal situation for project's when it comes to permits of the local governments. This aspect is simply too complicated and differs strongly from city to city. This aspect should be left to the project initiators.
- He further gave some expertise on his experience with civic initiatives in Austria. He explained that civic initiative's in Austria have a tendency to be used as a tool to stop specific plans. He argues that a platform trying to motivate people to be constructive in their initiative's has to highly emotionalize its users.
- He believes that a platform like this has to be highly transparent and should not be associated with an political party or corporation. This is an important aspect because it strongly influences possible business models.

The conversation with Christoph Chorherr gave interesting insights into the dynamic of civic projects and the legal situation. He confirmed our assumption that there is need for a platform in the public civic sector. He gave us the advice to contact Helge Fahrnberger for further insights and feedback due to his experience in the field of digital web products.

5.7. SECOND DESIGN PROTOTYPE

The goal of the next iteration was to make the start page resemble typical crowdfunding pages. This was desired in order to make people faster understand how projects and ideas are structured. Funded projects should be identified as such and ideas should not be confused with them. The presence of more white space was also necessary to add more visual structure and make the overall appearance more calm and not as visually cluttered as before.

The cards are not relying on a hover state anymore. This was necessary because the design should also work effectively on touch devices.

The filters have been removed from the start page. The navigation now contained a text search for project and ideas.



Beliebte Projekte

mehr Projekte

Jeder der im zehnten wohnt kennt die schreckliche Parktsituation. Deshalb wollen wir ein anderes Bewusst sein fürs Parken und die Umwelt schaffen. Wir möchten das erste Parklet Wiens

mitten auf der Quellenstraße eröffnen. Dafür benötigen wir eure hilfe! Seht euch an was wir vor

von

€9231

0 Tage noch

haben.



Figure 19 The start page of the second design prototype resembled typical crowdfunding sites stronger than the first prototype

nstrass

The header of the idea sites is more responsible for participatory component of the site. The call to action to participate should be clearly associated with the people that are working on the project. It should give the feeling of a community that is trying to achieve a goal. It also ads more visual structure to the layout of the site and makes it easier to differentiate between ideas and projects.



Figure 20 The call to action for participation has been moved to the participants in order to create a association with them

In order to make the process more understandable a illustration was created that should explain how the process of the platform works.



Figure 21 The aim of this illustration was to explain the process and aim of the platform to visitors

After finishing this iteration the next expert review was scheduled with Helge Fahrnberger as suggested by Christoph Chorherr.

5.7.1. Expert Review with Helge Fahrnberger on June 26, 2015

Helge Fahrnberger is the co-found of Toursprung GmbH (Toursprung, 2015), a company that provides digital map products. He also teaches Online Journalism at the University of Vienna and founded Kobukt.at (Kobuk, 2015). This website on of the most relevant watch-blogs in Austria. He worked as a consultant for digital product strategies.

His strong background in digital product design gives him a wide set of experience in order to evaluate the current status of the platform. He also has a lot experience in mobilizing people with digital media. This expertise was especially important for the design process.



Figure 22 The second design prototype has been printed in A3 format as well to get feedback in the expert review

Helge was interviewed while examining the current screen designs in large printed form. Helge gave some very impactful insights.

- After reviewing the platform he mentioned that it is absolute crucial to give the platform a lot stronger profile. He further elaborated that users need to be able to immediately grasp what the site's purpose and function is. If a user is confronted with intangible concepts there is very little chance that they will visit the site an other time.
- A possibility to sharpen the profile could be to choose a specific category and focus the platform around a specific topic. The concept of civic project seemed to be clearly to abstract for a wide audience.
- He noticed that their might even be a bigger danger. User's might have **different understandings of the platform's goal**. This bears the risk that conflicts arise. This makes it even more important to have a sharp profile.
- Helge mentioned that mobilization of people in order to get projects started is the hardest part. The platform should focus on providing easy ways to get in contact with project organizers.
- He also questioned **if crowdfunding is necessary at all for what the platform is trying to achieve**. He believed that crowdfunding ads a lot

overhead and complexity to the platform that might discourage people to engage themselves in civic projects.

Helge made it very clear that a sharper and tighter profile is absolute crucial in order to appeal to a broader audience.

5.8. THIRD DESIGN PROTOTYPE

The third prototype was an enhancement of the second prototype. A timeline was added to the project detail page that could be reached through a tabbed navigation. Keeping funders and participants constantly updated in crowdfunding campaigns is an integral part for the success of such projects. It creates engagement, gives the initiators credibility and makes them seem more trustworthy. The timeline consists of custom and also auto-generated messages. Auto-generated messages would appear whenever a certain level of funding is reached or somebody joins the project. The intention behind this is that a project should seem alive event if the initiators don't create a lot of content.



Figure 23 The third design prototype was extended with a timeline that displays progress and a section for rewards

In addition to the timeline a reward-section was added. The reward section serves the same purpose as on the presented crowdfunding pages. Project initiators can create rewards that can be given out to funders. In a civic context it might seem a lot harder to come up with meaningful rewards in comparison to funding campaigns that create physical goods. Nevertheless, rewards often work very well as an effective tool to drive campaigns.

After receiving the insights from Helge Fahrnberger it was evident that the next logical step in the explorative design process would be to meet with people and organizations that could potentially benefit from such platform.

5.8.1. Expert Review with Dipl.-Ing. Simone Rongitsch on July 7, 2015

After researching about Urban Gardening Project an interview with Simone Rongitsch was arranged. Simone Rongitsch is the project leader of *Verein* Karlsgarten (Karlsgarten, 2015). *Verein Karlsgarten*'s main goal is to empower urban agriculture and to raise awareness for food production in urban areas. This is why they participate in many research projects that deal with these issues. They seemed appealing, especially due to their practical experience in realizing civic urban gardening projects in rural areas. The project was presented through large prints of the current screen designs.

The following points are some of the most important insights.

- In the early stages of their urban gardening ambitions, it was intended to use crowdfunding for financing the project. They have soon withdrawn from the idea. Setting up a crowdfunding project in order to be appealing to potential customers seemed to be too much work for them. The effort and the financial investment in order to produce a qualitative video that describes the project was not in relation to the money they actually needed to fund.
- She noted that **ecological project have additional benefits to society** in relation to non-ecological projects.
- The benefits can give all projects a common goal that gives the platform higher goals than just a high conversion rate of successful projects.
- Measurments that ecological projects have in common are for instance the size of created green space, the amount of CO₂ or the amount of trash that has been saved just to mention a few. The interesting aspect about these metrics is that they can be measured efficiently.
- The idea of giving people the possibility to look for supporters that actually work with them appealed to her. She mentioned that they often encountered the problem that it was hard for them to arrange physical meetings. A platform that would have supported solving these types of problem would have helped them.
- She explained that the vast majority of urban gardening projects like *Karlsgarten* is **financed through private corporations**. Many companies have a strong interest in supporting project that try to improve society and ecology.

Simon Rongitsch was able to provide very impactful insights. Her feedback was able to solve the questions the interview with Helge Fahrnberger raised earlier. She further confirmed our ambition the focus stronger in ecologic and green projects than civic projects in a broader sense. The idea of having higher goals in which all projects contribute to also made the concept of the platform a lot more tangible and distinguishable form existing crowdfunding platforms.

5.9. FOURTH DESIGN PROTOTYPE

The feedback from Helge Fahrnberger and Simone Rongitsch lead to major changes in the general concept. The platform went from focusing on civic projects in general to ecological, environmentally sustainable, nature-related projects. The following 3 reasons lead to the change:

- Helge Fahrnberger mentioned in his expert review that a sharper profile is necessary for the understandability of the platform. He further explained that concept such as *public space* and *civic goods* **might not be very tangible concepts for many people**. Visitors should be able to immediately grasp what the platform is about.
- The research work of Rodrigo Davis shows that the vast majority of civic crowdfunding projects are gardens and parks. Therefore it would make sense to specialize on this field more if the general category of civic urban projects tends to be very specific.
- 3. Simone Rongitsch elaborated what kind of positive impacts green projects have in general on the environment. These impacts give all projects a common goal on a higher level. The platform serves not as gathering of independent projects but rather tries to reach a higher goal by giving people a tool to realize individual projects.

This change in focus had strong implications on the general design und orientation.

By giving the project common goals **it was important to embed them visually in the design**. Visitors should immediate understand that the platform impacts the environment in a comprehensible way. Giving projects a common goals makes it reasonable to **group projects by location and city**. Local communities should be able be accountable for their positive impact on the environment. By grouping project in cities also gives a stronger feeling for community. Now that the platform focuses on green projects it was possible to **rethink the categorization**. It was not necessary anymore to think in very broad categories. Categories could serve as frame to present projects and to give very specific information.



Figure 24 Basic sketches have been created in order to integrate the new concepts in the older prototypes

The designs for this iteration based on new completely new sketches. The general look and feel from the earlier iterations remained.



Figure 25 The fourth design prototype aims to stronger show the positive impact on environment and focuses stronger on location and categories



Figure 26 Cities now have their own detail pages. This aims to create a better connection to local communities.

New expert reviews were scheduled after redesigning the platform and changing the focus dramatically in order to determine where new fields of tension could emerge.

5.9.1. Expert Review with Mag. (FH) Markus Ogris on July 21, 2015

Markus Ogris works as a project manager for organizational development for BAWAG PSK and is one of the initiators of Crowdfunding.at. Crowdfunding.at is part of the initiative *Es geht!* which tries to support social projects that focus on having a positive impact on society. The reward based crowdfunding platform is part of this initiative.

Through his strong involvement in crowdfunding.at, it was intended to receive feedback on the platforms potential for successful crowdfunding campaigns and where he sees possible potential and possible problems.

This were the most significant insights from the conversation.

- He confirmed that **regionalism is absolutely crucial for the success of crowdfunding** campaigns that try to impact a specific location.
- The setup process for projects has to be extremely simple and understandable. He explained that many projects often get stuck in the draft phase and never actually make it on their website as live projects.
- The **commitment of a projects initiator is very important** for the success of the project.
- He also confirmed like other interview partners before that constant communication of a projects development has as strong impact on its success.
- Platforms that are not reward based have an **emotional appeal to the** visitors.
- His experience showed that potential backers show **distrust in payment processes on mobile**. The majority of all payment processes is done on a desktop computer.
- Corporations should be able to support projects not just through money but **actually through active engagement**.
- He sees potential in the concept of finding people to participate in developing an idea to a project although he believes that this might remove the focus from the projects that necessarily need funding.

Markus Ogris feedback gave valuable insights in the long term process of supervising a crowdfunding platform that aims to have a positive impact on society. His expertise made it clear that the platform needs to have a very easy onboarding process and effective mechanisms to engage people over a long period of time.

5.10. FITH DESIGN PROTOTYPE

One of the main goals of the platform is that people should be able to participate in projects and help them. In order to do this some mechanism had to be developed that give organizers the ability to express the need for help but also for visitors to provide this help. In earlier prototypes this was solved by adding an area to the project page where initiators could express what kind of manpower they are looking for. The expert reviews showed that this concept doesn't really meet the needs for such projects. In stead of describing what kind of people a initiator is looking for he should express what has to be done in order to realize the project.

The initiator should express the tasks as some form of To-Do's or Challenges that visitors can choose to deal with. These challenges describe tasks that are necessary for the project but haven't been dealt with so far. Therefore they can change during the lifespan of a project. The participatory aspect of the platform will be based around these challenges.

5()ŧ

9 Unterstützer



An einem sonnigen Platz werden die dafür präparierten PET-Flaschen an Geländer oder Wand mit einer Rankhilfe befestigt. Für den Aufhau benötigt

Figure 27 The project detail page has an own designated area for challenges

5.10.1. Expert Review with Ing. Dr. Karin Büchl-Krammerstätter on September 2, 2015

Karin Büchl-Krammerstätter is the leader of the **municipal department for environmental protection**. This department is responsible for areas such as waste management, preservation of nature, air quality, sustainability and environmental protection in general for the city of Vienna.

The goal of the feedback was to get insights on the field of green and sustainable projects and the measurability of positive impact on the environment. The department for environmental protection has a lot of experience in realizing projects that could be interesting for the platform. Therefore one of the main targets was to learn from their experience.

In order to discuss the platform, 2 large posters of the current design have been printed and brought to the meeting.



Figure 28 The fourth design prototype has been printed as well in A3 format for the expert reviews

Here are some of the main insights of the meeting.

- On being asked what the biggest areas for environmental protection in the city are she replied that urban heat-islands, façade greenery, modern rainwater management, roof greening and waste reduction are among the most important areas.
- After presenting the platform the first question was asked about the legal situation. She mentioned that most projects have to be rejected due to ownership problems or environmental protection laws.
- On being asked how people get in contact with them or how project are initiated they explained that the vast majority of projects is initiated by them directly contacting people.

 Projects are most of the time financed by companies. On thing she pointed out was that it was crucial to explain to corporations that ecological actions also have strong impact on economics. Saving energy through sustainability can decrease costs significantly.

Insights of the Feedback:

- The feedback showed that civic projects in well regulated urban areas are faced with many obstacles. The regulations and the law makes it hard to get a project started.
- Civic crowdfunding projects are often initiated because the initiators see no other way in realizing a planed project. In well regulated cities like Vienna the need for this is smaller. People have official contact points to go to when they want to create a green project.
- The feedback made clear that a platform for ecological projects also has to educate people about the sustainable cities.
- The platform should explain what certain types of project can do for the environment.
- The feedback also clearly showed that a platform that anticipates to create civic projects needs to give people clearly structured information on how to get permission to initiate a project.
- Categories should be clearly more focused. The platform should be less about broad categories of projects but rather very specific forms of actions that can be taken.

5.11. FIELDS OF TENSION & CONTRADICTIONS IN DESIGN DECISIONS

At the current stage 3 concrete contradictions in the goals of the platform have emerged. In order to solve the problems this platform aims to deal with, these fields of tension have to be resolved.

5.11.1. Dealing with laws and regulations

At this point of the design process it was evident that this platform has to deal with the problematic situation of law and local regulations. The strong regulatory mechanisms in the city of Vienna showed that a platform needs to be tightly coupled to local regulators in order to make projects succeed.

This has a strong implications on the platform. The platform can't guarantee that projects will be allowed by the state even if they are successfully funded. In order to make funding possible it would be necessary to check the legal status of a project before it starts funding money. This can be a to big hurdle for many projects.

5.11.2. Funding in green projects

The expert reviews showed that money is not necessarily the main issue when working on civic projects. In these cases crowdfunding would be an obstacle for realizing a project. This is not desirable. The main goal is to make a platform that helps people realize projects and not to put a unnecessary burden on their shoulders.

An other aspect that could harm the creditability of the platform as crowdfunding-site is that projects that don't meet their funding goals are not necessarily stopped. The project organizers usually would keep working towards their goals whether funding has been achieved or not.

5.11.3. Expert Review with DI Roman Mesicek on September 15, 2015

Roman Mesicek is the Program Director for Environment- and Sustainability Management at FH Krems. His core competence surround Sustainability Management, Corporate Social Responsibility, Stakeholder Engagement, Management Sustainable & Social Entrepreneurship. The interview with Roman Mesicek was the last Expert Review conducted before the implementation of the prototype. Therefore it was aimed to present him the goal of the project and the design decisions that have been made throughout the process. It was especially important to confront him with the contradictions that have emerged during the design process. In order to do that, several printed Designs have been presented to him. These designs show the project at different stages during the design process. The goal of the feedback was to gather general insights on whether the focus of the platform is aimed at the right projects. His opinion from a perspective of Sustainability Management and Social Entrepreneurship were also important.

- He agreed that the crowdfunding aspect should not play a huge role in participatory green projects. Financing is an aspect that should be investigated at a later step.
- He mentioned to be very cautious when it comes to enabling companies to co-operate with projects on the platform. Primarily because he is witnessing the trend that many business have decreased budgets in the area of financing projects and also because the integrity and the aim of many projects can be changed and harmed by cooperating in such manner.

46

- He mentioned the importance of trust of the platform. He finds it as crucial for the platform to start with a few known projects that can be presented to people.
- Further he suggested that cooperating with platforms that do similar thing in the area of collaborative urban live would be a very effective tool in order to get people to participate.
- He also said that in general he is very pleased by the visual design and believes that a real world approach that acknowledges that people interact and approach each other in real life is very important.

5.12. FINAL DESIGN DECISIONS

The expert reviews gave enough valuable feedback to be able to make qualified design decisions. Here are the two most important

5.12.1. Removing Crowdfunding

During the process of designing and doing reviews it was continuously more evident that **the concept of crowdfunding simple doesn't meet the needs of a platform that aims to help people start and realize civic, urban and green projects**. Therefore crowdfunding should not be a part of the platform. This would solve many problems at once.

Projects that don't need funding can be represented on the platform. There is no commitment that project initiators enter when creating a project on the platform. This makes the barrier to start a project very small. This can affect the amount of project being represented on the platform very strongly. The removal of the process that comes with crowdfunding also makes it possible for project that already have been realized to be represented on the platform. **The platform can serve as a long term contact point for projects**. This means that the boundaries of beginning and end of an project blur. Projects can be initiated, grow and be looked after on the platform. This can increase the amount of active projects dramatically.

5.12.2. Acknowledging real world problems

What was constantly more evident during the design process was that the workflows and goals of the platform simply didn't meat the real world problems that emerge in initiating civil projects. The platform tried to take out the friction in human interaction by solving them through technological tools but these tools were more hindering than actually beneficial. A platform that deals with civic projects has to acknowledge that a lot of the work is done by face-to-face communication. The platform therefore should

encourage such behavior not try to reduce them by introducing technological tools.

Mobilization for small local projects simply works a lot more effective approaching people in the neighborhood directly than by promoting it on social media. Especially because the target group of people is very specific. This is way the platform enables project initiators to get printable leaflets that can be posted in the neighborhood next to promoting it on social media.

6. FUNCTIONAL PROTOTYPE

The goal of the implementation was not to implement the full platform that was conceptualized during the design process but rather to create a functional prototype that covers some of the most important user stories. Many features are only being hinted at in the prototype in order to ask tester what they would expect from such feature.

6.1. IMPLEMENTATION & DEVELOPMENT ENVIRONMENT

The platform was developed using web technology. The majority of the backend development was done using the PHP Framework Yii 2.0 (Yii Framework, 2015). The front-end was implemented with HTML, CSS and JavaScript (using the jQuery Library (jQuery, 2015)) MySQL was used for the database. The data is persisted in a database on a server. Therefore live testing with real data can be done. The prototype had no requirements in backward compatibility to outdated browsers. This ensured that modern visual effects using CSS could have been used for the design.

The prototype has been developed in NetBeans 8.0.2 and Adobe Brackets 1.5.

6.2. ROLES

The prototype has 3 types of users.

6.2.1. Visitor

A visitor is able to browse all sites and view all projects but is not able to participate in a project or start a project. In order to do these actions he will have to register.

6.2.2. Registered User

A registered user is able to start a project and to participate in other projects. He is not able to modify existing projects except his own ones.

6.2.3. Initiator

A initiator is a registered user but is offered more functionality due to his ownership of a project. He can modify his projects and will receive notifications whenever somebody wants to join his project.

6.3. USER-STORIES

Following user-stories were aimed to be implemented.

- A visitor should login to be a user.
- A visitor should register to be a user.
- A user should create a new project to be an initiator.
- A initiator should add/modify/delete challenges in a project.
- A initiator should add/delete updates in a project.
- A initiator should add/modify/delete a projects description.
- A visitor/user/initiator should browse projects by category.
- A visitor/user/initiator should find information and help about the platform.
- A user should ask for permission to join a project.
- A **initiator** should **promote his project** through social media and prints.

6.4. IMPLEMENTED PAGES & LOOK AND FEEL

A main goal of the prototype was to capture the look and feel from the design prototypes. Therefore more emphasize was but on the design that usual on a functional prototype. To ensure the look and feel that was designed in earlier prototypes **CSS Filters** and **Web fonts** have been used.

Following pages have been implemented in the functional prototype

Start Page

The Start Page consists of a short introduction and a call to action to start a project. The three most popular projects and all the categories are displayed as well. The popular projects are followed by the categories section where a user can choose categories. The page ends with a footer from where the visitor can reach the most important sites.





Figure 29 The functional prototypes start page

How it Works

A page that illustrates the process of realizing a project on the platform.

Discover Projects

Projects can be discovered by various settings. Inside the prototype users will be able to browse all projects or search them by category.



Figure 30 The discover page for a specific category

Project Detail Page

The Project Detail Page consist of various elements. The header element gives basic information about the project and the participants. It also contains a large call to action to participate. Underneath this area is a map which indicates the location of the project. The body consist of a tabbed navigation with 3 elements. The first element is the project description that can be edited by the initiator. A button to add text block and an image is visible for the initiator. The second element is a overview of the updates that happened during the lifespan of the project. The initiator is able to add updates in this tab. The third tab gives a overview of all tasks associated to this project. A button which is only visible to the initiator leads to a site where he can edit them.



Figure 31 The project detail page's body consists of the tabs that describe the project, show news and display tasks

Login

A basic login screen for visitors to login.

Registration

A registration site which enables visitors to create a profile for themselves or an organization.

Start you project

This page consist of a form that enables user to set up a project.

garthr.at so funktionie	ert's Starte dein Projekt Entdeck	ken		Login Registrieren
	St	arte dein Projel	kt! Idee.	
	Gib deinem Projekt einen Namen			
	Der Name sollte am besten kurz und pregnant sein. Worum geht's?			
	Beschreibe in 3-4 Sätzen worum es be	A Beschreibe in 3-4 Sätzen worum es bei deiner idee geht und was deine Nachbarschaft davon hat.		
	Wo?	Wo?		
	Geben Sie einen Standort ein	Geben Sie einen Standort ein.		
	Lade ein Bild hoch	Lade ein Bild hoch		
	Datei auswählen Keine aus	Hen Keine ausgewählt		
	Ein Bild sagt mehr als tausend Worte.	Ein Bild sagt mehr als tausend Worte. Zeig uns den Ort den du verändern möchtest.		
	In welche Kategorie passt de	In welche Kategorie passt dein Projekt?		
	Urban Farming	Community	Nahrung	
	Fassadenbegrünung	Dachbegrünung	Energy & Recycling	
		Legios		
gattle at	ERFAHRE MEHR	ENTDECKEN		FOLGE UNS
	So funktioniert's	Urban Farmin Community Nahrung	ng	f Facebook
		Passadenbeg Dachbegrün Energy & Rec	ung cycling	
		MADE WITH . IN WIEN		
		© 2015		

Figure 32 The user has to fill out a form with basic information when creating a project

Edit Tasks

Initiators need to be able to add and edit tasks during the setup process and after the project has been set up. This page enables initiators to interactively add, modify and delete tasks for projects.



Figure 33 Initiators are able to interactively edit the projects tasks

7. EVALUATION

7.1. PROCEDURE

The functional prototype was presented to the tester without further explanation. The testers were asked to think aloud and to express their first impressions on whether they understand what the site is about.

After giving the testers some time to navigate through the site, the reviewer took over and gave them a short explanation on what they are seeing. Next the reviewer explained the purpose of the main page. The testers were asked for their opinion and what they think about the presented site.

Next the project detail page was presented to the testers. They were asked to navigate through it and again to express their thoughts aloud.

The reviewer then showed the testers how to set up a project and add tasks.

After showing them the platform the reviewer engaged the testers in a conversion about the platform. They were asked to express their first impression and their thoughts on design and the aim of the platform.

Lastly the testers were asked express their overall opinion.

7.2. EXPERT REVIEWS

7.2.1. Expert Review with Sebastian Jakl, M.A. on November 3, 2015

Sebastian Jack, M.A. is a freelance communication designer and also works for a Viennese agency for digital products (Jackl, 2015). His work is focused on art direction and design. The main point of the review with him was to get his insights from a design and usability perspective.

Observations

- The tester explained that he felt the "Start your Project" button on the main page was too aggressive for him. He felt that a visitor should first be presented with an explanation before he is asked to participate.
- After viewing the Todo-Section in a project, the test said that each To-Do should have some direct call to action. This should be in contrast to the participation button the header of the project detail page.

- He expressed that the header of the project detail should have short description text about the project. He again felt that the call to participation in the header was too direct for first time visitors who don't know the project.
- He expressed that the font used for the location information was not legible for him.
- He expressed that he really liked the focus on green projects.
- The tester liked the idea of the printable pdf a lot.
- He further expressed that the platform should guide the project initiators stronger by providing information on how to get permits etc.
- The concept of measurable metrics was considered to be very good and interesting.
- He further expressed that he as an user would have privacy concerns when not knowing what happens by clicking on the participatebutton.
- The tester asked himself the question on how a project progress should be determined. He explained that some sort of milestones would be necessary to see how the project develops.

7.2.2. Expert Review with Mag. Manfred Forster on November 5, 2015

Mag. Manfred Forster is a holder from a Viennese Design Agency and primarily works on the conception and design of digital products (Getdesigned, 2015). He worked in the field of creating websites and webbased platforms for more than 10 years. Therefore it was aimed to get his critical opinion on potential weak points of the presented platform.

Observations

- After viewing the main page, the tests said that he understands the basic concept. He got a rough understanding about what the platform is about although he noted that he feels that the actual aim of the platform to help people organize themselves in their neighborhood was not clear to him.
- After presenting him a detail site he noted that he would like to know what happens when clicks on the call to action to participate. He was not sure what kind of commitment that would mean.
- He noted that he likes the structure of the navigation inside a project. The further explained that the focus should be stronger on the newssection.

- The tester created a project and went through the process of setting up a project. He noted that it was to fast for him. Before he is asked to explain what has to be done he would like to get basic information. He further expressed that he would like to get a guide on how to realize project. The focus of such guide should be clearly on how to get people to participate on the project. The focus should be stronger on the participation.
- He expressed that he likes the overall appeal and design of the site.
- He further noted that he found the wording of the site to be confusing. He said that the main catchphrases were misleading in what the platform actually does.
- The most important issue that tester had with the site was that he did not see a clear focus. He found 2-3 different ways to interpret the focus of the site. This was very critical for him.

7.2.3. Expert Review with Mag. Matthias Redl on November 10, 2015

Mag. Matthias Red is the Chief technology office at a Viennese Agency for digital products (Getdesigned, 2015). The aim of the review with him was to get his thoughts on the actually functionality of the website and whether he believes that the platform is using the right mechanisms to solve the problems it attends to do.

Observations

- The tester navigated the through the main page, the category page and a detail page by himself. After navigating through the sites he noted that he didn't understand what the website actually does for him. He was not sure what it was that the website was supposed to do.
- When setting up a project he noted that the tasks are even more important than the project set up itself. It should be the first step to him because.
- Further he explained that the website doesn't explain to him what functionality it actually offers. The tester was generally very focused on concrete features. They were more important to him than the actual collaborative aspect.
- He further noted that the News-Tab had the least relevance in his opinion.

- His main wish was that a platform like the presented one would help him strongly in the bureaucratic process of establishing a green project.
- The main argument he made was that the website simple didn't offer him to much unique functionality that it would distinguish itself from other online platforms.
- He noted that instead of using a button to initiate participation in a project, the initiator should be able to empty avatars to the website header.
- The platform seemed to be trustworthy and credible to him due to the design.

7.2.4. Expert Review with Dipl.-Ing. Simone Rongitsch on November 13, 2015

Simone Rongitsch was part of the expert review described in chapter 5.8.1. The design decisions that have been made since the expert review with her suit the projects that she is involved with a lot better than the prototype that was presented to her in the expert reviews. This is why she was invitied again to participate in the evaluation of the functional prototype.

- She navigated very quickly through the site and understood the functionality very well. Especially the concept of tasks was very obvious and powerful to her.
- When she created a project she noted that project doesn't necessarily needs a location. She explained that projects such as food trucks are not bound to a position and that some initiators might have an idea but don't know where it could be located yet.
- She liked that fact that the platform could host finished projects and unfinished projects. She noted that it was not obvious whether a project is finished or not.
- Simone elaborated that many projects in the field of urban farming are nested in large-scale building complexes. These large projects have very specific needs for urban farming. Such projects can have hundreds of surfaces for gardening and need to be organized and distributed. She felt that the platform was is good for small independent projects but might not suit the demands for large gardening projects in modern residential areas.
- After viewing the projects, she noted that the platform only offers people to express if the need something. She explained that very

often people or especially organizations want to share something such as a piece of land for urban farming. This aspect was very important to her.

- From Simone's experience many projects are very similar in the field of urban farming. That's why she noted that the platform should enable projects to connect with each other to share knowledge.
- She felt that texts on the platform wear a bit misleading. She was not sure whether visitors would immediately grasp the purpose of the site.

7.3. FINDINGS

In general, the reviews underlined a previously made insight that the platform has to sharpen its profile even further. The platform needs to articulate very explicitly what it aims to do. It should clearly communicate that it aims to present green projects, serve as an collaborative tool to find people to realize projects and educate initiators and visitors on how to realize a these projects.

The review showed that initiators of projects **should be guided stronger through the process of initiating a project**. They should get constant support and be able to find information that is necessary to realize a project. This issue has two aspects. One aspect is that **the initiator should be informed about the bureaucratic steps he has to take**. The other aspect should focus on providing **the initiator with help on how to engage people to participate**.

The review also showed that users might potentially be concerned with privacy issues and what kind of commitment they undertake when initiating or joining a project. The platform has to be **highly transparent and always explain what consequences an action might take**.

One tester said during the interviews that platform feels like a *Content-management-tool with a Todo-Plugin* to him. The platform did not have enough unique functionality that would separate it from similar websites.

Giving the platform **the ability to propose, organize or offer physical meetups** could make it more transparent for people that are interested in participating in a project but might be worried about what kind of obligations they have to fulfill.

The platform has to be able to make **distinctions between finished and unfinished projects**. Unfinished projects and their tasks need be emphasized in order to get attention. During the reviews it became more evident that the platform focuses to strong on initiators that are looking for people and resources. It should also be possible for **people and organizations to serve as providers for land that can be used for urban farming** for example.

On of the biggest insights of the reviews was that **the platform did not take the requirements of large-scale farming projects into account**. The platform focuses too strong on independent small-scale projects but did not consider that **urban farming initiatives are often organized in in large building complexes**. These projects need to be able to organize many small projects and give them the ability to connect with each other and communicate on a higher level. This has large potential because urban planners are often faced with the problem that it is very hard to engage residents to participate in community projects and initiatives.

8. SUMMARY & DISCUSSION

This work started with an examination of developments and fields of tension in the area of urban live. Urbanization, the emergence of the sharing economy and the commercialization and privatization of public space served as the main motivation. The goal was to conceptualize an information and communication system that aims to create stronger interaction between people in urban areas, encourage usage of public spaces and therefore strengthen local communities.

This goal was defined very broad on purpose. It was very important that the question did not imply the answer in someway. This enabled the design process to be as open as possible. This works focus was not on the technical solution but rather on the design process and the continuous development of the concept.

The process started with an intensive literature research. Approaches to solving the problem in question were investigated with a special focus on public spaces and civic projects. The research showed clear developments.

Forms of civic activism such as urban gardening and other initiatives to encourage innovative usage of public space became more popular while at the same time, crowdfunding-platforms enabled individuals and small organization to finance civic projects without the support of government or corporate investors.

These two factors were the main impulses for the first design prototype. The concept was to create a platform that in the first step enables people to initiate and present ideas for civic projects. In the second step, these ideas could be financed through crowdfunding. After this concept was explored, an initial design prototype was created.

Expert reviews were used to evaluate these prototypes. The goal behind using expert reviews was to present a prototype to a person that is capable of answering questions that have emerged during the design process. A new prototype was then created, based on the insights from the expert review. The design process therefore was an alternating interplay between designing prototypes and reviewing them with experts.

Many conceptual issues emerged during the design process. The insights from the expert reviews made those problems visible and tangible and have led to drastic changes in the design and concept. It became evident that the platform needed a sharper profile. The concept of civic projects was too intangible and broad for many experts during the reviews. This ambiguity could have led to potential misunderstandings. This is why the platform started focusing on green projects. This category was chosen because they make up the larges group in civic crowdfunding.

The concept was faced with new challenges after this reorientation. This required changes in the functionality and aim which have led to the removal of the crowdfunding component. Crowdfunding simply implied to many problems for the overall process in relation to its benefits. During the expert reviews it became more evident that funding is not the main problem when initiating and realizing green projects. Further it introduced new problems. Only because a project was funded, it was not guaranteed that It could have been realized. Lawmakers and regulators still had the power to shipwreck a project. This problem could have influenced the possible funding performance dramatically.

The platform then focused to help people initiate, present and realize green projects. It tried to do that by giving their ideas a platform for presentation and by giving them tools to find people to collaborate with on their projects.

This concept was implemented as a web-based functional prototype. This prototype served as the basis for the evaluation which consisted of four expert reviews. The goal of the evaluation was to see how the new orientation was perceived and what new insights could have been gathered.

The reviews showed that the final concept was considered to be a lot more understandable and useful than the initial concept. The reviews also gave very valuable insights. It became clear that the platform needed to sharpen its profile even further. The reviewers understood what the site is about but were not able to precisely articulate what its goal was. The platform needs to be very clear about what it aims to do. The reviews further showed that the project initiators need stronger guidance through the bureaucratic processes and also on how to engage people to participate in their projects.

An other important insight was that the platform focused very heavily on small independent projects. This is not necessarily a problem itself. What the review did show was that green projects often are organized in larger structures such as huge housing complexes. A platform that aims to support these type of projects needs to take them stronger into account.
The biggest insights from the project came from the explorative design process. The goal was defined very broad and the result was left open. The impact of this design process became very clear throughout this work. The concept that started out as a crowdfunding platform for civic projects turned into a collaborative platform for initiating and realizing collaborative green projects.

Throughout the project, problems emerged that were not clearly identifiable. The interplay between iterative prototypes and expert reviews helped to identify those problems and make them tangible. The process also showed how important it was to frame the problem correctly and to find the right questions. Very often during the design process, feedback didn't make immediately sense. The reviewers were not able to properly articulate or identify an underlying problem. The risk was that this feedback would have been ignored and deemed to be wrong. The constant iteration helped to reflect upon feedback at different stages of the design process where the problem was framed again. Viewing feedback under a new problem statement helped to make it comprehensible.

In retrospect, this process was very powerful. It helped to support large changes in the design and the concept and enabled a constant reorientation of the approach to solve the problem in question without losing focus.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Airbnb. (2014, 7 31). Retrieved 3 16, 2015, from http://blog.airbnb.com/environmental-impacts-of-home-sharing

Airbnb. (2014). Retrieved 3 16, 2016, from http://blog.airbnb.com/economicimpact-airbnb

Alexander, C. (1964). *Notes on the Synthesis of Form.* London: Oxford University Press.

Alexander, C. (1971). The State of the Art in Design Methods. *DMG Newsletter* 5:3, 3-7.

AngelList. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from https://angel.co/

Baker, L. E. (2007). Public Sites Versus Public Sights: The Progressive Response to Outdoor Advertising and the Commercialization of Public Space. *American Quarterly. Vol. 59, No. 4*, pp. 1187-1213. The Johns Hopkins University Press.

Beck, H. (2009). Linking the quality of public spaces to quality of life. *Journal of Place Management and Development. Vol. 2 No. 3*, pp. 240-248. London: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

Bela, J. (2015, 09 18). *Hacking Public Space With the Designers Who Invented Park(ing) Day*. Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from NextCity:

https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/hacking-public-space-designers-parking-day

Belleflamme, P., Lambert, T., & Schwienbacher, A. (2014). Crowdfunding: Tapping the Right Crowd. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *29* (*5*), pp. 585-609.

Berger, J. (1972). Ways of Seeing. British Broadcasting Corporation.

Brady, D. (2014, 11 20). *Crowdfunded Parks Are Coming and That Isn't a Bad Thing*. Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from NextCity:

https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/in-public-crowdfunding-parks

Buchanan, R. (1992). Wicked Problems in Design Thinking. *Vol. 2, No. 2*, pp. 5-21. The MIT Press.

Buxton, B. (2007). *Sketching User Experiences: Getting the Design Right and the Right Design.* Morgan Kaufmann.

Carroll, J. M. (1995). Scenario-Based Design: Envisioning Work and Technology in System Development. Wiley.

Cross, N. (1982). Designerly ways of knowing. *Design Studies, Vol. 3, No. 4*, pp. 221-227.

Crowdfunder. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from http://www.crowdfunder.co.uk/?e=B

Davies, R. (2015). *Civic Crowdfunding: Participatory Communities, Entrepreneurs and the Political Economy of Place.* Master Thesis, MIT Center for Civic Media.

Fundable. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from https://www.fundable.com/

Getdesigned. (2015). *Getdesigned GmbH*. Retrieved 11 13, 2015, from http://www.getdesigned.at/geschaeftsfuehrung/

Giudici, G. a. (2012). Crowdfunding: The New Frontier for Financing Entrepreneurship? SSRN Electronic Journal.

Gofundme.com. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from https://www.gofundme.com/

Indiegogo. (2015). *Indiegogo: The Largest Global Crowdfunding & Fundraising Site Online*. Retrieved 10 2015, 2015, from https://www.indiegogo.com/

Jackl, S. (2015). *Skyscraper J*. Retrieved 11 13, 2015, from http://skyscraperj.com/

Jones, J. C. (1977). How my thoughts about design methods have changed during the years. *Design Methods and Theories, Vol. 11 No. 1*, pp. 50-62.

jQuery. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from https://jquery.com/

Karlsgarten. (2015). *Verein KarlsGarten*. Retrieved 11 15, 2015, from http://karlsgarten.at/

Kickstarter. (2014). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from Pebble: E-Paper Watch for iPhone and Android:

https://www.kickstarter.com/projects/597507018/pebble-e-paper-watchfor-iphone-and-android

Kickstarter. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from COOLEST COOLER: 21st Century Cooler that's Actually Cooler:

https://www.kickstarter.com/projects/ryangrepper/coolest-cooler-21stcentury-cooler-thats-actually

Kickstarter. (2015). *Kickstarter*. Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from https://www.kickstarter.com/

Kobuk. (2015). Kobuk.at. Retrieved 11 15, 2015, from https://www.kobuk.at

Lawson, B. (1980). How Designers Think. London: Architectural Press Ltd.

Lendingclub.com. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from https://www.lendingclub.com/

Living Innovation Zones. (2015). *Living Innovation Zones*. Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from http://liz.innovatesf.com

Market Street Prototyping Festival. (2015). *Market Street Prototyping Festival*. Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from http://marketstreetprototyping.org/about/

Occupy Parking Spots: 15 Projects Reclaiming the Streets. (2014, 09 17). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from webUrbanist:

http://weburbanist.com/2014/09/17/occupy-parking-spots-15-projectsreclaiming-the-streets/

Papanek, V. (1971). *Design for the Real World: Human Ecology and Social Change.* New York: Pantheon Books.

Rebar Group. (2005). *PARK(ing) Day*. Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from http://rebargroup.org/parking-day/

Rittel, H., & Webber, M. (1973). Dilemmas in a General Theory of Planning. *Policy Sciences. Vol. 4, Iss. 2*, pp. 155-169. Amsterdam: Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company.

Roettgers, J. (2015, 2 15). *Disrupting reality: Silicon Valley is busy ignoring the real world*. Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from Gigaom: https://gigaom.com/2015/02/15/disrupting-reality-silicon-valley-is-busy-ignoring-the-real-world/

Rogers, R., & Botsman, R. (2010). *What's Mine Is Yours: The Rise of Collaborative Consumption.* London: Harper Collins.

Schön, D. (1983). *The reflective practitioner: how professionals think in action.* New York: Basic Books.

Simon, H. (1969). The Science of the Artificial. London: MIT Press.

Starr, P. (1988). The Meaning of Privatization. *Yale Law & Policy Review. Vol. 6, No. 1*, pp. 6-41. Yale Law & Policy Review, Inc.

Sun, T., Schwartz, D., & Terry, H. (2015). *The Future of Finance Part 3: The Socialization of Finance.* Goldman Sachs Global Investment Research .

Toursprung. (2015). *Toursprung GmbH*. Retrieved 11 15, 2015, from http://www.toursprung.com

United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. (2014). *World Urbanization Prospects: The 2014 Revision.* New York: United Nations.

Wahyuni, Z., & Nasution, A. (2012). Public Open Space's Contribution to Quality of Life: Does privatisation matters? *Asian Journal of Environment-Behaviour Studies. Vol. 3, No. 9*, pp. 59-74. Malaysia: Universiti Teknologi MARA.

Wakkary, R. (2003). Pete and Repeat were sitting on a fence: iteration, interactive cognition and an interactive design method. *Proceedings of the Fifth International Consciousness Reframed Conference.*

Yii Framework. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from http://www.yiiframework.com/

Zopa.com. (2015). Retrieved 10 25, 2015, from http://www.zopa.com/

EXTENDED TABLE OF CONTENTS

Erklärung zur Verfassung der Arbeit			
Acknowledgments			
Abstract			
Kurzfassung			
Table of contents			
List of figures			
1. Introduction	1		
1.1. Structure of this work	1		
2. Motivation	3		
2.1. Urbanization	3		
2.2. Commercialization and privatization of public space	3		
2.3. The Sharing Economy	4		
3. Aim	5		
4. Approach	6		
4.1. A brief history of design theory	6		
4.2. Critique on design methodologies	8		
4.3. This work's approach	8		
4.3.1. State-of-the-Art research	9		
4.3.2. Design Prototypes	10		
4.3.3. Expert Reviews	10		
5. Design process	11		
5.1. Initial research	11		
5.1.1. Developments in the usage of public spaces	11		
5.1.2. Emergence of civic crowdfunding	12		
5.2. Initial concept	16		
5.2.1. Process	16		
5.2.2. Ideas and Projects	17		

	5.2	.3.	Multiple metrics to measure progress	17
	5.2	.4.	Potential problems	18
	5.3.	Sto	ryboards	18
	5.4.	Use	er stories & Personas	19
	5.5.	Wi	reframing & Sketching	21
	5.5	.1.	General approaches in crowdfunding platform user interfaces	22
	5.5	.2.	Low fidelity mockups	25
	5.6.	Firs	st design prototype	26
	5.6	5.1.	Expert review with Mag. Christoph Chorherr on June 9, 2015	30
	5.7.	Sec	cond design prototype	31
	5.7	.1.	Expert Review with Helge Fahrnberger on June 26, 2015	33
	5.8.	Thi	rd design prototype	35
	5.8	.1.	Expert Review with DiplIng. Simone Rongitsch on July 7, 2015	537
	5.9.	Fou	urth design prototype	38
	5.9	.1.	Expert Review with Mag. (FH) Markus Ogris on July 21, 2015	41
	5.10.	Fit	th design prototype	42
	5.1 Sej	0.1. pten	Expert Review with Ing. Dr. Karin Büchl-Krammerstätter on nber 2, 2015	43
	5.11.	Fie	lds of tension & Contradictions in design decisions	45
	5.1	1.1.	Dealing with laws and regulations	45
	5.1	1.2.	Funding in green projects	46
	5.1	1.3.	Expert Review with DI Roman Mesicek on September 15, 2015	46
	5.12.	Fir	nal design decisions	47
	5.1	2.1.	Removing Crowdfunding	47
	5.1	2.2.	Acknowledging real world problems	47
6.	Fur	nctic	onal Prototype	49
	6.1.	Imp	elementation & Development Environment	49
	6.2.	Rol	les	49
	6.2	.1.	Visitor	49

6.2.2. Registered User	49	
6.2.3. Initiator	49	
6.3. User-Stories	50	
6.4. Implemented Pages & Look and Feel	50	
7. Evaluation	55	
7.1. Procedure	55	
7.2. Expert Reviews	55	
7.2.1. Expert Review with Sebastian Jakl, M.A. on November 3, 2015	55	
7.2.2. Expert Review with Mag. Manfred Forster on November 5, 20 ⁷ 56	15	
7.2.3. Expert Review with Mag. Matthias Redl on November 10, 2015	57	
7.2.4. Expert Review with DiplIng. Simone Rongitsch on November2015 58	r 13,	
7.3. Findings	59	
8. Summary & Discussion	61	
Bibliography 64		
Extended Table of contents 68		